FILED April 1, 2016 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73945-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KEVIN HUTTON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Kevin Eugene Hutton was convicted of multiple counts in violation of double jeopardy, without his jury being instructed on self-defense, and after prejudicial and propensity evidence was admitted.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The convictions for second-degree assault and felony violation of a no-contact order violate double jeopardy because they are based on the same single act of assault.
- 2. The trial court erred in failing to provide requested instructions on self-defense as to counts one and two.
- 3. The trial court abused its discretion by overruling Mr. Hutton's objections to the repeated admission of irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence regarding the presence of Shamicia Jones's children.
- 4. The trial court abused its discretion by overruling Mr. Hutton's objections and repeatedly admitting evidence of uncharged prior conduct that was highly prejudicial to the charged counts.
- 5. To the extent defense counsel failed to object to subsequent admissions of the ER 403 and ER 404(b) evidence, Mr. Hutton was denied the effective assistance of counsel.

- 6. Cumulative error denied Mr. Hutton his due process right to a fair trial.
- 7. Counts one and two should count as a single offense in Mr. Hutton's offender score under the same criminal conduct analysis.
- 8. The trial court acted improperly when it imposed \$600 in legal financial obligations and entered a boilerplate finding on Mr. Hutton's ability to pay but received no evidence related to Mr. Hutton's ability to pay.
- 9. The judgment and sentence improperly includes an aggravator that was withdrawn based on intervening case law.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The constitutional prohibition of double jeopardy requires that if a jury finds a defendant guilty of multiple counts for the same conduct, the trial court must only enter a judgment on the greater offense. Do the second-degree assault and felony violation of a nocontact order convictions for the single act of punching Shamicia Jones violate double jeopardy?
- 2. If requested, the trial court should instruct the jury on selfdefense as long as there is some evidence that, viewed from the defendant's perspective, the jury could find he was acting in self-

defense. Where evidence showed Shamicia Jones was acting aggressively toward Mr. Hutton before he hit her, did the trial court err in failing to provide the requested self-defense instruction to counts one and two?

- 3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by admitting evidence that was irrelevant, more prejudicial than probative, and involved prior uncharged acts, without the State providing any proper purpose for the evidence?
- 4. Did Mr. Hutton receive ineffective assistance of counsel where trial counsel objected to most, but not all, of the evidence admitted in violation of ER 403 and ER 404(b)?
- 5. Multiple errors may combine to deprive an accused person of a fundamentally fair trial, in violation of the due process clauses of the Washington and federal constitutions. In light of the cumulative effect of the errors assigned above, was Mr. Hutton denied a fundamentally fair trial?
- 6. Offenses that occur at the same time and place, against the same victim, and with the same objective intent count as a single offense in the offender score calculation. Should the second-degree assault and felony violation of a no-contact order convictions count as a

single offense where they are based on Mr. Hutton's single punch to Shamicia Jones at her house on September 14, 2014?

- 7. RCW 10.01.160 mandates the waiver of costs and fees for indigent defendants. "[A] trial court has a statutory obligation to make an individualized inquiry into a defendant's current and future ability to pay before the court imposes LFOs." *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 830, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). While the trial court recognized Mr. Hutton is indigent, the court imposed legal financial obligations (LFOs) without mention of his inability to pay. Should this Court remand with instructions to strike LFOs?
- 8. If the State is the substantially prevailing party on review, should the Court decline to award appellate costs in favor of the State?
- 9. Should this Court remand to the trial court to correct the improper inclusion of a withdrawn aggravator in the judgment and sentence?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kevin Hutton and Shamicia Jones have known each other for many years. RP 347-49, 418-19. On September 14, 2014, Mr. Hutton was at Ms. Jones's home in Seattle, where she lived with her mother, Patricia King, and her three young children. RP 344-46, 352-54, 415-

19. Mr. Hutton was drinking alcohol and showing its effects. RP 237-38, 242-43, 355-57, 402-03, 423. Ms. King called 911 around 4:45 p.m., reporting Mr. Hutton had punched her daughter and then punched Ms. King, before walking away. RP 188-95, 368-75; Exhibit 1; *see* RP 285-89, 349-51, 362.

The police located Mr. Hutton a couple blocks away, sitting in the passenger seat of a parked vehicle, about 45 minutes later. RP 210-15, 262-63. Mr. Hutton kicked at the doors and windows of Officer Mazziotti's patrol car during the ride to the police station. RP 216-18. When Officer Mazziotti pulled over and opened the door, Mr. Hutton reportedly kicked Officer Mazziotti. RP 218-35, 238-39, 250-51; Exhibit 14.¹

On the date of these incidents, there were no-contact orders in effect between Mr. Hutton and Ms. Jones and between Mr. Hutton and Ms. King. Exhibit 15.

The State charged Mr. Hutton with felony violation of a nocontact order (domestic violence) as to Shamicia Jones based on assault

¹ The State introduced in-car video from a police vehicle as Exhibit 5; however, the Exhibit 5 on record with the trial court contains four files, none of which show the purported kick or conduct. Trial counsel is working on settling the record with a copy of the video shown to the jury. Mr. Hutton will supplement this brief if any additional error arises once the record is settled.

or reckless conduct that created a substantial risk of death or serious injury (count one), assault in the second-degree (domestic violence) as to Shamicia Jones (count two), felony violation of a no-contact order (domestic violence) as to Patricia King based on assault (count three), and assault in the third-degree for kicking Officer Mazziotti. CP 1-10. After Mr. Hutton called Shamicia Jones from jail, the State charged three additional counts of misdemeanor violation of a no-contact order. CP __ (Sub # 115 (amended information)); Exhibits 16 & 23.²

The trial court denied Mr. Hutton's request for a self-defense instruction on counts one, two and three, but granted the request as to count four, assault three against Officer Mazziotti. CP __ (Sub # 113 (defense proposed instructions)); CP 72-112; RP 436-45, 487-88, 494-99, 505-06.

A jury acquitted Mr. Hutton of count three, the felony violation of a no-contact order protecting Patricia King. CP 55. Mr. Hutton was convicted of the remaining counts. CP 51, 53, 56-59. Although the State initially charged an aggravator, it withdrew it at sentencing due to intervening case law. CP 1-10; RP 671-77, 681. Mr. Hutton was

² A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed for documents cited by subfolder number and for exhibits.

sentenced to serve all counts concurrently for a total of 84 months. CP 127-38.

Additional facts are set forth in the relevant argument sections below.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The convictions for second-degree assault and felony violation of a no-contact order, counts one and two, violate double jeopardy.

The double jeopardy clauses of the federal and state constitutions prohibit the imposition of multiple punishments for the same criminal conduct. *State v. Turner*, 169 Wn.2d 448, 454, 238 P.3d 461 (2010).³ Whether punishment of a single act as two crimes violates double jeopardy is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Womac*, 160 Wn.2d 643, 649, 160 P.3d 40 (2007). If a jury finds a defendant guilty of multiple counts for the same conduct, the trial court "should enter a judgment on the greater offense only and sentence the defendant on that charge without reference to the verdict on the lesser

³ The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall . . . be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb." Article I, Section 9 of the Washington State Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall . . . be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." The two clauses provide the same protection. *In re Personal Restraint of Borrero*, 161 Wn.2d 532, 536, 167 P.3d 1106 (2007); *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn.2d 252, 265, 149 P.3d 646 (2006).

offense." *Turner*, 169 Wn.2d at 463 (quoting *State v. Trujillo*, 112 Wn. App. 390, 411, 49 P.3d 935 (2002)).

It is constitutional to convict an individual of both felony violation of a no-contact order and assault, only if the felony violation of a no-contact order is predicated on an act other than that forming the basis of the assault conviction. *State v. Leming*, 133 Wn. App. 875, 891, 138 P.3d 1095 (2006). Under RCW 26.50.110(4), the penalty for an assault violation of a no-contact order increases from a misdemeanor to a felony when the assault does not amount to first or second degree assault or when the conduct is reckless and creates a substantial risk of death or physical injury to another person. RCW 26.50.110(4). If a defendant is convicted of second-degree assault, that conviction cannot serve as the basis to elevate a violation of a no-contact order to a felony. *State v. Olsen*, 187 Wn. App. 149, 156, 348 P.3d 816 (2015) (citing *State v. Ward*, 148 Wn.2d 803, 812, 64 P.3d 640 (2003); *State v. Azpitarte*, 140 Wn.2d 138, 141, 995 P.2d 31 (2000)).

Here, only a single act underlies the assault and the felony violation of a no-contact order convictions, counts one and two.

Although the State encouraged the jury to convict Mr. Hutton under the reckless conduct alternative after convicting him of assault in the

second degree, the jury had but one act to consider for both charges. RP 565. The evidence showed Mr. Hutton punched Shamicia Jones once. RP 349-51, 360, 401 (testimony of Patricia King); RP 420-21 (testimony of Shamicia Jones). This punch formed both the basis of the assault conviction and the felony violation of a no-contact order conviction under the reckless conduct alternative. Thus, punishing Mr. Hutton for the two convictions violates double jeopardy.

Our courts have upheld separate punishments for felony violation of a no-contact order and assault in the first or second-degree only where separate conduct underlies each conviction. For example, in *Olsen*, the State presented evidence of assault with a large hunting knife and subsequently by beating with a bat. 187 Wn. App. at 150-51. On appeal, this Court upheld the separate convictions because the felony violation of a no-contact order was predicated on the reckless conduct alternative, conduct different from the assault conviction. *Id.* at 157-58. In *Leming*, the second-degree assault charge was based on the defendant's intent to commit felony harassment. 133 Wn. App. at 882. The conviction for assault was thus based on a verbal threat the defendant uttered, whereas the violation of a no-contact order was elevated to a felony based on the defendant's physical conduct. *Id.* at

885; *see id.* at 891 (discussing separate conduct). Due to this distinct evidence, the dual convictions did not constitute double jeopardy. *Id.* at 887.

Azpitarte presents another salient example of the rule that a single assault cannot form the basis for second-degree assault and felony violation of a no-contact order convictions. 140 Wn.2d 138. The State charged Mr. Azpitarte with both crimes, and evidence of two distinct assaults was presented at trial—a second-degree assault and an (uncharged) fourth-degree assault. *Id.* at 139-40. The State explained it would rely on the fourth-degree assault to elevate the violation of a no-contact order to a felony. *Id.* at 140. However, in closing, the State encouraged the jury to rely on either assault for the felony violation of a no-contact order count, and the jury convicted of both counts. *Id.* Our Supreme Court reversed because the jury may have relied on the same assault conduct to find Mr. Azpitarte guilty of second-degree assault and felony violation of a no-contact order. *Id.* at 141-42.

Unlike *Leming* and *Olsen*, Mr. Hutton's two convictions are predicated on a single punch. Like *Azpitarte*, the felony violation of a no-contact order conviction must be reversed. Because a single act of assault, the same conduct, underlies the second-degree assault and

felony violation of a no-contact order convictions here, the felony violation of a no-contact order conviction (count one) must be vacated. *See State v. League*, 167 Wn.2d 671, 672, 223 P.3d 493 (2009) ("When two convictions violate double jeopardy principles, the proper remedy is to vacate the lesser conviction and remand for resentencing on the remaining conviction.").

2. The trial court erred and denied Mr. Hutton his constitutional right to present a defense by refusing to instruct the jury on self-defense for counts one and two.

Mr. Hutton requested accurate self-defense instructions for counts one and two.⁴ The trial court erroneously denied the requested instructions because a "trial court is justified in denying a request for a self-defense instruction only where no credible evidence appears in the record to support a defendant's claim of self-defense." *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 489, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983).

⁴ Mr. Hutton also requested a self-defense instruction for count three (assault of Ms. King). Because he was acquitted of that count, the error is not raised here. However, the court's ruling that no evidence supported the instruction for count three is belied by the record. RP 351 ("I came in the house over her, and this is my exact words to Kevin [before he hit me] is, I ain't paying you shit I owe you. I'm not paying you shit."); RP 400-02, 404-05 (King was mad and wanted to fight Hutton).

The right to self-defense is broadly-recognized, basic, deeply rooted, and fundamental to our concept of liberty. *McDonald v. City of Chicago, Ill.*, 561 U.S. 742, 130 S. Ct. 3020, 3036, 177 L. Ed. 2d 894 (2010); *State v. Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 292, 225 P.3d 99 (2010); U.S. Const. amends. II, XIV; Const. art. I, § 24.

A person does not have to be in actual danger to act in lawful self-defense. *State v. Riley*, 137 Wn.2d 904, 909, 976 P.2d 624 (1999). The long-recognized "right of the defendant" to act in defense of himself or others exists when a person has a good faith belief there is apparent danger to himself or another person. *State v. Carter*, 15 Wash. 121, 123, 45 P. 745 (1896). It is viewed from the perspective of the defendant, based on the situation as it appeared to him. *Id.* A person is entitled to defend himself if he reasonably believes he is in danger of imminent harm, and uses an appropriate degree of force in response to that threat. *Riley*, 137 Wn.2d at 909.

Mr. Hutton not only had the right to act in self-defense, but he also had the due process right to have the jury instructed on self-defense. The constitutional due process right to fully defend against the charges entitles an accused person to a jury instruction on self-defense if there is some evidence of self-defense. *State v. Werner*, 170

Wn.2d 333, 336-37, 241 P.3d 410 (2010). "The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations." *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. The right to due process entitles the accused to have the jury fully instructed on the defense theory of the case. *State v. Staley*, 123 Wn.2d 794, 803, 872 P.2d 502 (1994). When requested, the trial court must provide an instruction that supports the defense theory, as long as the instruction is an accurate statement of the law and is supported by the evidence. *State v. Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d 221, 237, 559 P.2d 548 (1977).

There was at least some evidence that Mr. Hutton acted in self-defense, particularly when viewed from his perspective. *Wanrow*, 88 Wn.2d at 234-26; *McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d at 488; *State v. Ellis*, 30 Wash. 369, 373, 70 P. 963 (1902) ("The jury are [sic] entitled to stand as nearly as practicable in the shoes of defendant, and from this point of view determine the character of the act."). As to the counts regarding Shamicia Jones, she testified that she got angry immediately before Mr. Hutton hit her. She said, "I got angry and I said something about it." RP 424. "I said something that pissed him off even more." RP 425.

Because this evidence is to be viewed from Mr. Hutton's perspective, it is important to note the evidence showed he was intoxicated to an extent likely to have affected his perception. RP 237-38, 242-43, 354-57. Before being hit, Ms. Jones aggressively approached a visibly intoxicated Mr. Hutton. There was enough evidence to put the self-defense issue before the jury.

Because there was at least some evidence upon which to base a claim of self-defense, the court erred in denying Mr. Hutton's requested instructions. *See State v. Adams*, 31 Wn. App. 393, 395-96, 641 P.2d 1207 (1982).

3. The trial court abused its discretion by admitting multiple instances of prejudicial evidence, which was either irrelevant and should have been excluded under ER 403, or involved uncharged conduct that should have been excluded under ER 404(b).

The trial court abused its discretion when it allowed, over several objections, highly prejudicial and irrelevant evidence about Shamicia Jones's young children being present for and highly upset by the fight. The trial court likewise abused its discretion in admitting repeated testimony during the guilt phase indicating that there was a history of abuse between Mr. Hutton and Ms. Jones where the aggravator portion of the trial was bifurcated. *See State v. Atsbeha*, 142

Wn.2d 904, 913-14, 16 P.3d 626 (2001) (evidentiary errors reviewed for abuse of trial court's discretion).

a. Evidence that the young children witnessed the fight was highly prejudicial and irrelevant.

The State did not charge the presence of minors as an aggravator to the instant charges. CP __ (Sub # 115 (amended information)); *see* RCW 9.94A.535(2)(h)(ii). The presence of Shamicia Jones's children during the fight was not relevant to any element the State had to prove. Nonetheless, over objection and without an on-the-record analysis, the court allowed evidence that Ms. Jones's three children under the age of eight were present for the fight, reacted negatively to it, and were psychologically affected by what they witnessed. RP 365-67, 415-16, 512-13.

Patricia King testified that her grandchildren were running around and playing while their mother was fighting with Mr. Hutton and that at least the two youngest witnessed Ms. Jones being hit. RP 365-66. Ms. King told the jury the kids then probably went and hid "Because when they fight. They hide. They like get out the way." RP 366. The trial court overruled defense counsel's ER 403 objection without elaboration. RP 366.

When the objection was overruled, the prosecutor repeated "that the children were present" and asked Ms. King to tell the jury "what was their reaction?" RP 366-67. She testified the young children were "Scared, crying. Crying." RP 367. Defense counsel renewed his objection, which was again overruled without explanation. RP 367.

The jury also heard Shamicia Jones tell Mr. Hutton, on a recorded call from jail, that the children are "having nightmares and shit . . . you fucked them up." RP 512-13; Exhibit 17 (track 1 at 1:57 to 2:02). Defense counsel again objected, but the court admitted this portion of the recording. RP 470; *see* RP 461-73 (redactions to recording discussed).

At the conclusion of the prosecutor's opening statement, he argued to the jury that Mr. Hutton's conduct harmed "three generations of this family. Ms. King, the grandma; Ms. Jones, the daughter; and then there's three boys. All of them are affected by his actions." RP 580. If the trial court had properly excluded the evidence regarding Ms. Jones's children, the prosecutor could not have made this argument in closing.

Only relevant evidence is admissible at trial. ER 402. Evidence is relevant if it has the "tendency to make the existence of any fact that

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