FILED  
Jun 16, 2016  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

NO. 73945-0-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KEVIN HUTTON,

Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE MARIANE C. SPEARMAN

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 477-9497

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

asserted at trial. See 7RP 470. The defendant appears to have abandoned hearsay as a basis to argue his claim.<sup>6</sup>

In any event, the defendant contends that the fact that Ms. Jones' children were present at the time of the assault was not relevant and that the admission of the evidence was highly prejudicial. This claim has no merit.

---

<sup>6</sup> The defendant attempts to circumvent waiver by raising a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. This will not help the defendant. A person claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must show both that (1) counsel's deficient performance deprived the defendant of his constitutional right to counsel and (2) counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant's case. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Deficient performance occurs when counsel's performance falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004). Prejudice occurs when, but for counsel's deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability the outcome would have differed. Id.

Courts are reluctant to find ineffective assistance of counsel except in the most extreme cases. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). This is particularly true where the alleged deficient performance consists of an attorney's failure to object. "Counsel is not, at the risk of being charged with incompetence, obliged to raise every conceivable point, however frivolous, damaging or inconsequential it may appear at the time, or to argue every point to the court and jury which in retrospect may seem important to the defendant." In re Stenson, 142 Wn.2d 710, 735, 16 P.3d 1 (2001). "Only in egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal." State v. Madison, 53 Wn. App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662, rev. denied, 113 Wn.2d 1002 (1989). And if a claim of ineffective assistance rests on counsel's failure to object, "a defendant must show that an objection would likely have been sustained" and that the evidence probably affected the verdict. State v. Fortun-Cebada, 158 Wn. App. 158, 172, 241 P.3d 800 (2010).

Here, clearly the above evidence was not central to the State's case. It was relatively inconsequential. Thus, the defendant cannot show that it would have been manifestly unreasonable for an attorney not to raise an objection. In addition, just as with an evidentiary objection, the defendant must show that the objection would have been granted and he must show prejudice. He can do neither.



Ms. Jones testified that what led to the defendant punching her was the defendant's anger at her after she tried to get him to stop harassing her children. Whether termed *res gestae*<sup>7</sup> or what motivated the assault, the defendant's pestering of the kids and Ms. Jones' attempt to get him to stop was the very action that led to the assault. The evidence also put into context the defendant's phone call to Ms. Jones wherein he admitted that he "messed up" and apologizes after Ms. Jones told him that the kids were having nightmares.<sup>8</sup>

In addition, it is certainly relevant whether witnesses are present during the commission of a crime, who the witnesses are, did they see the crime committed and how they reacted. For example, the missing witness doctrine would allow a defendant to have the jury instructed that a witness not called by the State can be presumed to have unfavorable evidence against the State's case unless the absence of the witness is satisfactorily explained.

See State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 598-99, 183 P.3d 267

(2008). Similarly, if there were multiple persons around but none of

---

<sup>7</sup> *Res gestae* is evidence that completes the story of the crime by proving its immediate context of happenings near in time and place, or motive. State v. Mutchler, 53 Wn. App. 898, 901, 771 P.2d 1168, rev. denied, 113 Wn.2d 1002 (1989).

<sup>8</sup> The evidence also was relevant in proving that it was the defendant and Ms. Jones whose voices were heard on the recording, and that they were discussing this actual incident.

them saw the crime being committed, this would certainly be relevant. Because the potential witnesses might be children does not make their presence irrelevant or somehow overly prejudicial. The parties do not get to choose who witnesses a crime whether it be a priest, a rabbi, a drug dealer or a child, their presence is relevant.

As to the fact that Ms. King's testimony suggested that the defendant and Ms. Jones had been involved in prior conflicts, this was hardly news to the jury. After all, the defendant stipulated that there were multiple no-contact orders in existence that prevented him from having any contact with Ms. Jones. Still, while evidence of any prior conflict between Ms. Jones and the defendant was likely admissible under ER 404(b),<sup>9</sup> the State informed the court pretrial that it would not be eliciting such evidence. 2RP 48-49. At trial, it was Ms. King who "volunteered" that she was tired of the defendant and Ms. Jones fighting.

---

<sup>9</sup> See State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 185-86, 189 P.3d 126 (2008) (prior assaultive conduct is relevant and admissible to assess a domestic violence victim's credibility as a witness and accordingly to prove that the charged assaultive acts actually occurred – the jury is entitled to evaluate the victim's credibility with full knowledge of the dynamics of a relationship marked by domestic violence), accord, State v. Wilson, 60 Wn. App. 887, 808 P.2d 754, rev. denied, 117 Wn.2d 1010 (1991), and State v. Grant, 83 Wn. App. 98, 105-07, 920 P.2d 609 (1996).

An evidentiary error is grounds for reversal only if it results in prejudice. State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). An evidentiary error is prejudicial if a reasonable probability exists that it materially affected the outcome of the trial. State v. Tharp, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981). No prejudice exists if the inadmissible evidence is “of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole.” Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d at 403. In assessing whether the error was harmless, a reviewing court measures the admissible evidence of the defendant’s guilt against the prejudice caused by the improperly admitted evidence. Id.

Here, in assessing harmless error, the court must look at the evidence and the nature of the charges. The defendant stipulated to the existence of multiple no-contact orders. Evidence of violations of the no-contact order charges consisted of phone calls wherein the defendant and Ms. Jones’ voices were identified and the content of the calls showed that it was the defendant and Ms. Jones engaged in the conversations. It is difficult to see how the alleged inadmissible evidence could have prejudiced the jury’s determination on these counts.

In regards to the assault on the officer, a video of the assault was shown to the jury. The defendant also stipulated that he told the officer afterward, "I kicked you, yeah I admit to that." 5RP 237; Trial Exhibit 14. There can be no prejudice here.

Finally, as to the assault and violation of the no-contact order involving Ms. Jones, the evidence of guilt was overwhelming. Ms. Jones clearly suffered a significant injury that caused permanent scarring. Ms. King, in calling 911, identified the defendant as the perpetrator of the assault. Ms. Jones, when admitted to the hospital, identified the defendant as the perpetrator. The defendant, in recorded phone calls, apologized for his assault. In addition, the defendant was located a short distance away from Ms. Jones' house – intoxicated and angry as the victims described. The defendant lied about his identity and upon being arrested, he threatened, "[t]he bitch is going to die." 5RP 237; Trial Exhibit 14. Whatever prejudice existed by the admission of the challenged evidence was minor. With the substantial evidence proving guilt that was admitted, the defendant cannot prove that there was a reasonable likelihood that the inadmissible evidence affected the verdict.

#### 4. THE DEFENDANT'S CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM IS WITHOUT MERIT

The defendant contends that the cumulative effect of multiple trial errors warrants a new trial, even if they do not justify a reversal individually. This claim should be rejected.

An accumulation of errors that do not individually require reversal may still deny a defendant a fair trial. State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 P.2d 668 (1984). It is axiomatic, however, that to seek reversal pursuant to the "accumulated error" doctrine, a defendant must establish the presence of multiple trial errors **and** that the accumulated prejudice affected the verdict. Reversals due to cumulative error are justified only in rather extraordinary circumstances. See State v. Perrett, 86 Wn. App. 312, 323, 936 P.2d 426, rev. denied, 133 Wn.2d 1019 (1997); State v. Badda, 63 Wn.2d 176, 183, 385 P.2d 859 (1963).

Here, the double jeopardy claim has nothing to do with any prejudice at trial; the charges were properly brought. The issue is merely a sentencing issue. Additionally, the defendant was not entitled to a self-defense instruction, and the evidentiary claims, even if valid, are easily resolved under the standard harmless error analysis.

**5. THE DEFENDANT'S ARGUMENTS OPPOSING  
THE DNA FEE AND VPA ARE WITHOUT MERIT**

For the first time on appeal, the defendant challenges the imposition of the \$100 DNA Collection Fee and the \$500 Victim Penalty Assessment. The sentencing court imposed these mandatory fees<sup>10</sup> without objection, while waiving all other costs and fees. See CP 129; 10RP 691. There is no indication in the record that the State has sought to enforce collection of these fees. In challenging these fees, the defendant raises a number of claims, all of which have been collectively or individually rejected in State v. Duncan, 90188-1, 2016 WL 1696698 (Apr. 28, 2016); State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997); State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992); and State v. Mathers, 47523-5-II, 2016 WL 2865576 (May 10, 2016).

In Duncan, the Supreme Court recently set forth the requirements of a constitutionally permissible system that requires defendants to pay court ordered discretionary legal financial obligations (LFO's). Duncan, 2016 WL 1696698, at \*2. At the

---

<sup>10</sup> RCW 7.68.035 states that a \$500 victim penalty assessment "shall be imposed by the court upon such convicted person." RCW 43.43.7541 states that for "[e]very sentence imposed" on a felony offense and certain misdemeanor offenses, a \$100 DNA Collection Fee must be imposed. See also RCW 43.43.754 (listing crimes for which DNA collection is required).

same time, the Court noted that the legislature has made the imposition of certain fees mandatory, including the DNA collection fee and the victim penalty assessment. The Court added that “[w]hile we have not had occasion to consider the constitutionality of all of these statutes, we have found that the victim penalty assessment statute was not unconstitutional on its face or as applied to the defendants in the case because there were sufficient safeguards to prevent the defendants from being sanctioned for nonwillful failure to pay.” Duncan, 2016 WL 1696698, at \*5 n.3 (citing Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 917). That is exactly the situation here for both the VPA and DNA fee.

In addition to Duncan, in Mathers, supra, Division II just recently rejected all of these same claims as raised by the defendant here.

**A LACK OF STANDING:** A person cannot challenge the constitutionality of a statute unless he or she has been adversely affected by the provisions claimed to be unconstitutional. State v. Lundquist, 60 Wn.2d 397, 401, 374 P.2d 246 (1962). To establish standing, a defendant must show (1) that he is within the zone of interests to be protected by the constitutional guarantee in question, and (2) that he has suffered an injury in fact, economic or

otherwise. Branson v. Port of Seattle, 152 Wn.2d 862, 875-76, 101 P.3d 67 (2004). The injury must be “fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief.” State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 552, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014). The injury also must be “(a) concrete and particularized, and (b) actual or imminent, not ‘conjectural’ or ‘hypothetical.’” Witt v. Dep’t of Air Force, 527 F.3d 806, 811 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008) (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560, 112 S. Ct. 2130, 119 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1992)). Where a party lacks standing, courts must refrain from reaching the merits of the claim raised. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d at 552.

“[T]he due process and equal protection clauses prevent a state from invidiously discriminating against, or arbitrarily punishing, indigent defendants for their failure to pay fines they cannot pay.” Johnson, 179 Wn.2d at 552 (citing Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1983)). In Blank, supra, the Supreme Court clarified that the imposition of fees against an indigent party as a part of sentencing is not constitutionally forbidden; rather, constitutional principles are implicated only if the State seeks to enforce collection of the fee “at a time when the defendant is unable, through no fault of his own, to comply.”



131 Wn.2d at 241 (quoting Curry, at 917). Thus, it is at the point of enforced collection that a defendant has standing to assert a constitutional objection on the ground of indigence. Id.

**NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW:** In general, “challenges to orders establishing legal financial sentencing conditions that do not limit a defendant’s liberty are not ripe for review until the State attempts to curtail a defendant’s liberty by enforcing them.” State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 108, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). It is only when the State attempts to collect or impose punishment against an indigent person for failure to pay that constitutional principles are implicated. Curry, at 917.

Our supreme court adhered to this position in Blank, when it held that an inquiry into defendant’s ability to pay is not constitutionally required before imposing a repayment obligation in a judgment and sentence, as long as the court must determine whether the defendant is able to pay before sanctions are sought for nonpayment. Blank, 131 Wn.2d at 239-42. The point of enforced collection or sanctions for nonpayment is the appropriate time to discern the individual’s ability to pay because before that point, “it is nearly impossible to predict ability to pay.” Id. at 242. “If at that time defendant is unable to pay through no fault of his own,

Bearden and like cases indicate constitutional principles are implicated.” Id. at 242.

Similar to standing, because there has been no attempt to collect the fees imposed, any challenge to the order requiring payment on hardship grounds is not yet ripe for review. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. at 109.

**RAP 2.5 PRECLUDES REVIEW:** A claim of error may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a “manifest error affecting a constitutional right.” RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Not every constitutional error falls within this exception; the defendant must show that the error occurred and that it caused actual prejudice to the defendant’s rights. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 333. If the facts necessary to adjudicate the issue are not in the record, the error is not manifest. State v. O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

Here, the defendant’s constitutional claims depend on his present **and future** ability or inability to pay the mandatory DNA fee and VPA. But as discussed above, there is no evidence in the record to show that the defendant will be constitutionally indigent at the time of collection, so the error is not manifest within the

meaning of RAP 2.5(a). In State v. Blazina, the Supreme Court recognized that “[a] defendant who makes no objection to the imposition of discretionary [LFO’s] at sentencing is not automatically entitled to review.” 182 Wn.2d 827, 832, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). Thus, where defendants fail to object to the LFO’s at sentencing, it is appropriate for appellate courts to decline review. Id. at 834. Because the defendant failed to raise an objection below and there is insufficient information in the record as to the defendant’s future ability to pay, this Court should decline review.

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